## Measuring change readiness

How to successfully quantify readiness for change

Kristina Linnea Matsdotter Fagernæs



Master's thesis in work- and organizational psychology

Department of Psychology UNIVERSITY OF OSLO

May 2015

#### Acknowledgements

This master thesis was written in association with the research department of the Norwegian Police University College (NPUC) as part of a larger, ongoing research project conducted in cooperation with the Department of Psychology at the University of Oslo.

I want to thank my supervisor Cato Bjørkli at the University of Oslo, for his advice, helpful guidance and constructive criticism. I also want to thank Alexander Garnås for assistance with the methodological questions that arose during this process. I would also like to thank Police Inspector Trond Myklebust and the research department at The Norwegian Police University College, for letting me participate in this exciting research project. This past year has been very interesting and educational, and has contributed to a richer view of the police organization.

Last, but not least, I owe a big thanks to my family and friends for endless support and necessary distractions along the way. Especially, I want to thank my mom for inputs, and Erlend Løken for support and encouragement.

Oslo, May, 2015 Kristina Linnea M. Fagernæs

#### Abstract

The purpose of this thesis is to clarify central aspects of change readiness, focusing on how to successfully quantify this attitude. This was done by investigating three hypotheses: quantitative versus qualitative method; relationship between individual and organizational change readiness and relationship between positive and negative change readiness.

Research on change readiness is hindered by the absence of a reliable and valid measure on both individual and organizational level. Hence, the Organizational Climate Measurement (OCM) survey was used in this thesis to measure change readiness. The Open system quadrant in the Competing Values Framework (CVF) was operationalized as positive change readiness while Internal process quadrant was operationalized as negative change readiness. In addition to the survey, qualitative interviews were used on the same sample. The results indicate that the interviews and surveys detected different amounts of change readiness. It is therefore not indifferent which method is chosen to examine change readiness.

The relationship between individual and organizational change readiness were not surprisingly found to be different from each other. It is therefore important to separately measure change readiness at both levels. Results also indicate that change readiness at an individual level can be both positive and negative at the same time. It is therefore important to measure both positive and negative change readiness, not just overall change readiness. Finally, a number of suggestions for future research are identified, focusing on the conceptual and methodological issues that need to be addressed.

*Keywords:* change readiness, multilevel framework, Competing Value Framework, positive change readiness, negative change readiness, mixed-method

## **Table of contents**

Change Readiness	1
Measuring Change Readiness	5
OCM: Organizational Climate Measure	7
Measuring Change Readiness using OCM	10
The Present Study	11
Method	13
Qualitative Interview Data	13
Quantitative Survey Data	16
Combined Data	17
Ethical considerations	18
Results	18
Descriptive Statistics	18
Inferential Statistics	22
Discussion	23
Implications for Theory and Practice	25
Limitations	31
Directions for Further Research	32
Conclusion	33
References	35
Appendix A – Letter of information	41
Appendix B - Organizational Climate Measure (OCM), Norwegian version	43

The accelerating rate of change, driven by science and new technologies, has profound effects on the world economies, social structures and cultures. The rapid speed at which new innovations and faster communications are implemented, leads to faster changing environmental conditions. This results in an increasing pressure on organizations to adapt and successful changes are necessary for survival, (Holt & Vardaman, 2013). However, successful organizational change efforts have proven difficult and many studies report a high failure rate of 70% or more (e.g. Brodbeck, 2002; Burnes & Jackson, 2011; Burns, 2005). Since change is unavoidable and there is a high probability of failure, extensive research on organizational change has been undertaken. Not surprisingly, motivation for change is a key factor for a successful change process and in particular, the importance of readiness for organizational change is crucial (Rafferty & Simons, 2006).

Change initiatives are both time consuming and costly. It is therefore important to resolve how change is successfully adapted and sustained. In order to increase the probability of a profitable outcome, Rafferty, Jimmieson, and Armenakis (2013) argue that it is necessary to consider and measure change readiness prior to large-scale change implementation. This is supported by Armenakis, Harris, and Mossholder (1993) who argue that change readiness should be assessed in order to identify gaps in employees' change readiness, and thereby reducing resistance to change and other obstacles to successful conversion. However, there is a lack of research on reliable and valid measurements of change readiness.

The idea of change readiness appears to be a fairly intuitive and appealing construct, namely that individuals are more likely to participate in and support change that they are ready for. However change readiness is also a complex concept, appearing to have multiple dimensions and operating at different organizational levels. Despite the fact that change readiness is identified as a key element in successful organizational change (Burke, Clark, & Koopman, 1984), few studies have been conducted on the multifaceted nature of change readiness (Stevens, 2013; Szabla, 2007). Based on this, the purpose of this thesis is to clarify central aspects of change readiness, focusing on how to successfully quantify readiness for change.

#### **Change Readiness**

A key objective in the field of organizational change is the identification of endorsing or facilitating factors (e.g. Lewin, 1952; Rafferty & Simons, 2006). Early theorist such as Kurt Lewin modeled change as a three-stage process, consisting of

the stages unfreezing, changing, and refreezing (Lewin, 1947). The approach to organizational change developed over the years, evolving from planned approach in the 1950s to 1980s originated by Lewin, to emergent approach, surfacing in the early 1980s (Burns, 2005). Today the concept of organizational change is regarded more complex (Burnes & Jackson, 2011) with an increasing focus on the drivers of successful change (Rafferty & Simons, 2006). A number of researchers identify change readiness as a prevalent factor involved in employees' initial support for change initiatives (e.g. Holt, Armenakis, Feild, & Harris, 2007a).

Armenakis et al. (1993) identify readiness for organizational change as being similar to Lewin's concept of unfreezing, and emphasize the importance of creating readiness as a precursor to organizational change. Armenakis et al. (1993) also propose the most accepted definition of change readiness and define change readiness as "beliefs, attitudes, and intentions regarding the extent to which changes are needed and the organization's capacity to successfully undertake those changes" (p. 681).

Armenakis et al. (1993) identified two beliefs as key components of change readiness: the belief that change is needed and the belief that the individual and the organization have the capacity to undertake change. This is supported by Holt and Vardaman (2013) who argue that change readiness includes individual factors that reflect the extent to which individuals hold key beliefs regarding the change, and recognize that a problem needs to be addressed. Vakola (2013) takes this further and argues that individuals must be willing to support the change and perceives their work group or social environment as supportive of the change initiative.

Even though the definition by Armenakis et al. (1993) is the most used in change readiness literature, there is a discrepancy in the literature on how it ought to be defined and conceptualized (Stevens, 2013). The concept of change readiness has been understood throughout research in different ways, conceptualized as an attitude (e.g. Bouckenooghe, 2010; Rafferty et al., 2013; Rafferty & Simons, 2006), multifaceted concept (e.g. Bouckenooghe, Devos, & Van den Broeck, 2009; Holt, Armenakis, Feild, & Harris, 2007b; Holt & Vardaman, 2013), a stage of preparedness for change (e.g. Ingersoll, Kirsch, Merk, & Lightfoot, 2000) a commitment to change (e.g. Fedor, Caldwell, & Herold, 2006), or a process (e.g. Stevens, 2013) to mention some. As a consequence, the literature on the readiness for change lacks conceptual clarity, which creates confusion about the concept of change readiness (Vakola, 2014).

There is a strong overlap between the definition of an attitude and the content of change readiness (Bouckenooghe, 2010). Rafferty et al. (2013) goes even further and argue that change readiness is either a positive or negative attitude towards change. This is in line with the traditional idea that attitudes are either positive or negative. However, research has shown that positive and negative attitudes co-exist (e.g. Cacioppo, Gardner, & Berntson, 1997; de Liver, van der Pligt, & Wigboldus, 2007). Despite conceptualizing change readiness as an attitude, there has been little or no research on the co-existence of positive and negative change readiness.

Despite the growing number of studies on organizational change, it is unclear how the various attitude-related constructs overlap or differ. Some works have, however, tried to differentiate between resistance to change and change readiness. Among these are Armenakis et al. (1993) who underline that creating readiness for change has most often been explained in conjunction with reducing resistance to change. Also Ford and Foster-Fishman (2012) points out that change readiness may act to reduce the likelihood of resistance to change, hence increasing the potential for change efforts to be more successful.

Piderit (2000) draws on attitude theory and argues that it is essential to consider change attitudes as a tridimensional construct with both the cognitive, affective and intentional aspects when defining and measuring it. Bouckenooghe (2010) argue that these three components are also reflected in the beginning of the definition by Armenakis et al. (1993). This concerns the explicit reaction to what change recipients think (cognition), how they feel (affect), or what they intend to do (intention) in response to the change (Oreg, Vakola, & Armenakis, 2011). This is supported by Rafferty et al. (2013) who argue that it is essential to consider both the affective and cognitive aspects of change readiness when defining and measuring this attitude. There are different number of dimensions in the model by Rafferty et al. (2013) and the conceptualization by Piderit (2000). This illustrates that there is no consensus in the literature concerning the number of dimensions change readiness consists of.

There is a general consensus that organizational change is a multilevel phenomena (e.g. Bouckenooghe, 2010; Kozlowski & Klein, 2000). However, when studying a part of organizational change, namely readiness for change, few researchers have adopted a multilevel perspective (Bouckenooghe, 2010). Rafferty et al. (2013) argue that it is essential to understand the implications of change readiness

on both the individual and organizational levels.

Change readiness has predominantly been studied and conceptualized on an individual level (Vakola, 2014). Researchers often base their statements on organizational change readiness on results from the individual level. This is questionable since relationships that hold at one level of analysis may be stronger or weaker at a different level of analysis, and may even reverse. Rafferty et al. (2013) found that the processes that contribute to change readiness differ at the individual, group and organizational level. They found that there are different antecedents for the individual and organizational level. As illustrated in figure 1, they theorize that important antecedents for change readiness are external pressures, internal context enablers and personal or group characteristics. They developed a multilevel framework that identifies the antecedents and consequences of change readiness at these levels of analysis (Figure 1).



*Figure 1.* Multilevel framework of the antecedents and consequences of readiness for change. Heavy dashed lines represent the process through which lover level phenomena are compiled to result in higher-level phenomena. Lightly dashed lines represent potential cross-level relationships. After "Change Readiness: A Multilevel Review," by A. E. Rafferty, N. L. Jimmieson and A. A. Armenakis, 2013, *Journal of Management, 39*, p. 113.

Some recent conceptualizations have acknowledged the importance of considering individual and collective levels of analysis separately (e.g. Holt & Vardaman, 2013; Stevens, 2013; Wheland-Barry, Gordon, & Hinings, 2003).

However, this is difficult since change readiness lacks conceptual clarity. Change readiness has been conceptualized as an attitude, a process, and a stage of change to name a few. In addition, there has been little or no research on the co-existence of positive and negative change readiness. Consequently, it remains unclear how to measure positive and negative change readiness. In addition, it remains unclear how the levels of analysis may interact with each other, as well as what the appropriate measurement should be.

#### **Measuring Change Readiness**

Holt et al. (2007b) found, after extensive research, that existing measurements of change readiness lack evidence of validity and reliability. In addition, most measurements on change readiness have not differentiated between individual and organizational change readiness (Vakola, 2014). Vakola (2014) also argue that there was no relevant instrument that measure individual readiness to change as one factor. However, in response to this lack of instrument in the field, both Holt et al. (2007a) and Vakola (2014) have developed questionnaires on individual change readiness.

As previously mentioned, change readiness has been conceptualized and defined in different ways, and the following questionnaires are two examples. Vakola (2014) uses a conceptualization of change readiness as an attitude based on the definition by Armenakis et al. (1993). Whereas Holt et al. (2007a) define change readiness as a multidimensional construct that is simultaneously influenced by different factors. This shows the importance of studying this concept further and clarify the definition as well as how to measure it.

Holt et al. (2007a) define change readiness as comprehensive attitude that is influenced simultaneously by the content (what is being changed), the process (how the change is being implemented), the individuals (attributes of those being asked to change), and the context (attributes of the environment that the change is occurring in). This definition differs from previous research and conceptualization of change readiness. Holt et al. (2007a) states that their scale is in the initial stage and that the scale and its conceptualization needs more research. In addition, the scale was only tested in two organizations, both responsible for information technology and both undergoing structural changes. This can limit the scale's generalizability. Furthermore, the theorized factor structure did not emerge. Based on this, Holt et al. (2007a) argue that there is a need for further refinement of the scale.

Vakola (2014) developed a six item questionnaire on individual change

readiness based on the well-established definition by Armenakis et al. (1993). The item pool in Vakola's (2014) scale was based on literature on change readiness and instruments that measure similar concepts, such as empowerment readiness survey. The six items were chosen by five experienced human resource officers and directors. This questionnaire is also in the preliminary stages. In addition, it is not validated in another sample than in a technological company in Greece.

Both of these two questionnaires measure change readiness at the individual level and both are in their preliminary stages. Consequently, more research is needed on both questionnaires, covering different types of organizations. As pointed out earlier, there is a general, lack of validated and reliable instruments that measure change readiness at the individual level.

Weiner, Amick, and Lee (2008) examined instruments of change readiness at the organizational level. They found that a majority did not assess face- or content validity, thereby not assessing the extent to which the items in the instrument fully represent the theoretical content. They found only seven instruments that had undergone a systematic assessment of reliability and validity. Of these, only one measured overall change readiness at an organizational level. This measurement, by Lehman, Greener, and Simpson (2002), consists of 118 items divided on four dimensions, which in turn consists of 18 sub-scales. Recent studies showed that this scale had variable levels of reliability, concurrent validity and predictive validity (Weiner et al., 2008). Consequently, Weiner et al. (2008) encourage development of a reliable and valid instrument that measure change readiness at the organizational level.

Armenakis et al. (1993) argue that change readiness can be assessed through different methods such as questionnaire, interview and observation. However, most research on change readiness has been with questionnaires. The results of close-ended questionnaires might not capture or reflect the respondent's actual experience. Accordingly, Rafferty et al. (2013) argue that there is a need to examine change readiness using different methodologies. Piderit (2000) elaborates on this and mention the need for qualitative interview research when studying change. When using qualitative open-ended interviews the interviewee is free to use his or her own words and categories. The results could more likely reflect the person's actual experience of his or her environment. Furthermore, interview can play a role in discovering important components that are not covered by a questionnaire. Open-ended interviews

can therefore enhance our understanding of change readiness.

Jick (1979) argues that multiple and independent measures provide more certain information about a construct. Accordingly, triangulation can be used to enhance the knowledge of a concept. Triangulation is defined by Denzin (1978) as "the combination of methodologies in the study of the same phenomenon." (p. 291). A purpose of triangulation is to increase the comprehensiveness of a study, and thus to provide a more complete understanding of the phenomena (Jonsen & Jehn, 2009). Triangulation can therefore be a good method to increase the conceptual clarity of change readiness and increase the knowledge about how the different organizational levels relate to each other.

There is a lack of research on change readiness that uses triangulation. In addition there is a lack of research with qualitative methods. Using both qualitative interviews and quantitative surveys to explore the construct change readiness can increase the conceptual clarity. However, there is a lack of reliable and validated questionnaires on change readiness both on the individual and organizational level. A solution could be to use a validated and reliable general measurement on organizational climate, like the Organizational Climate Measure (OCM). Patterson et al. (2005) argues that the OCM can be used to study organizational change, and specifically focus on employees' experience of change. In addition, it would be interesting to use the OCM to improve the understanding of change readiness since organizational climate is related to change readiness (Cunha & Cooper, 2002). In addition, exploring change readiness with an alternative measurement, like the OCM, can give much needed clarity to the concept of change readiness.

#### **OCM: Organizational Climate Measure**

The OCM is a global multidimensional measure of organizational climate. The OCM has acceptable reliability and is tested for concurrent validity as well as predictive validity (Patterson et al., 2005). The OCM also has discriminant validity, meaning that it can be used to discriminate between organizations. It also has consensual validity, indicating that employees within the same organization tend to assess the work environment in a similar fashion. The OCM has been tested in different countries; among them the UK (Patterson et al., 2005) and Norway (Bernstrøm, 2009).

The OCM consists of 82 items that assess 17 dimensions (see appendix B for the list of the OCM questions and dimensions). The OCM uses the Competing Values

Framework (CVF) as a basis for selecting climate dimensions. This gives the OCM a robust theoretical foundation. The CVF by Quinn and colleagues has been named as one of the 40 most important frameworks in the history of business (Cameron, Quinn, Degraff, & Thakor, 2006). It was developed as a response to the need for a broadly applicable framework that could foster successful leadership, improve organizational effectiveness, and promote value creation. It has been studied in organizations for more than 30 years, and has received empirical support from several different studies (Cameron et al., 2006; Patterson et al., 2005). The CVF captures the fundamental values and culture that exists in an organization.

Quinn and colleagues proposed that organizational effectiveness criteria could best be understood when organized along fundamental dimensions - external versus internal focus and flexibility versus control. This leads to four different quadrants, see figure 2.



Control

*Figure 2*. The Competing Values Framework (CVF). After "A Spatial Model of Effectiveness Criteria: Towards a Competing Values Approach to Organizational Analysis" by R. E. Quinn & J. Rohrbaugh, 1983, *Management Science, 29*, p. 369.

The Human relations quadrant is defined by human commitment, decentralization and maintenance of the socio-technical system. It has values associated with belonging, trust and cohesion, achieved through means such as training and human resource development. The Human relations quadrant reflects the tradition derived from the socio-technical perspective (Patterson et al., 2005).

The Open system quadrant emphasizes the interaction and adaption of organization in its environment, with managers seeking resources and innovation in response to environmental, or market demands (Cameron et al., 2006). It is defined by decentralization, expansion and focus on the competitive position of the overall

system. Patterson et al. (2005) argue that this quadrant has a focus on readiness, innovation and change, where norms and values are associated with growth, resource acquisition, creativity and adaption.

The Internal process quadrant is defined by centralization-integration, continuity and maintenance of the socio-technical system. It emphasizes stability, where the effects of the environmental uncertainty are ignored or minimized (Patterson et al., 2005). Coordination and control are achieved by adherence to formal rules and procedures.

The last quadrant, the Rational goal quadrant focuses on the competitive position of the overall system, maximization of output, and centralization-integration. It reflects a rational economic model of organizational functioning in which the emphasis is upon productivity and goal achievement. The focus is on the pursuit and attainment of well-defined objects, where norms and values are associated with efficiency, goal fulfillment and performance feedback (Quinn & Rohrbaugh, 1983).

These four quadrants represent opposite or competing assumptions (Cameron et al., 2006). Each continuum highlights value creation and key performance criteria that are opposite from the value creation and performance criteria on the other end of the continuum – i.e. internal focus versus external focus, flexibility versus stability. The dimensions produce quadrants that are also contradictory on the diagonal. The competing elements in each quadrant give rise to one of the most important features of the CVF, the presence and necessity of paradox (Cameron et al., 2006). However, Quinn and Rohrbaugh (1983) emphasize that the different values are not mutually exclusive within one organization. This implicates that one organization can emphasize a value form the Human relations quadrant and at the same time with equal strength emphasize a value from the Rational goals quadrant.

Finding an appropriate measure on change readiness at both individual and organizational level has proven difficult. An alternative to using questionnaires that still are in their preliminary stages is to use a conceptual related measurement with questions that capture the same content as change readiness. As mentioned earlier, organizational climate is related to change readiness (Cunha & Cooper, 2002). An alternative could therefore be to measure readiness for change by using an instrument widely used to measure organizational climate. OCM could be an appropriate measurement since it, unlike measurements of change readiness, is validated and reliable, in addition to having a robust theoretical basis. It would therefore be

interesting to examine whether the OCM can be used to measure change readiness.

#### Measuring Change Readiness using OCM

Although the OCM can offer an alternative for measuring the internal context under which change embarks, it was not designed to diagnose specific events like organizational change. Among others, Bouckenooghe et al. (2009) argue that the OCM cannot be used to study change, since it was not designed to diagnosed changespecific context. Consequently, a major issue when applying the OCM to a change context is that this tool incorporates a large number of dimensions that are not relevant for the diagnosis of employees' readiness for change, and as such would imply a breach of the scientific principle of parsimony. However, Patterson et al. (2005) argues that the OCM can be used in a more refined way by selecting scales most applicable to the research question being posed. Hence, the OCM can be used to measure a specific construct, such as change readiness, while in accordance with the principle of parsimony.

Jones, Jimmieson, and Griffiths (2005) found a relationship between culture and change readiness. They found that employees who perceived a supportive and participative culture reported higher levels of change readiness. Further research found that organizational members are more likely to have higher levels of individual readiness for change when they perceive their work environment to have the characteristics associated with Human relations or Open system cultures (e.g. Cunha & Cooper, 2002; Haffar, Al-Karaghouli, & Ghoneim, 2014). Knight (2014) examined this further and found that the Open system and Human relation quadrant had employees with increased levels of change readiness compared to the other two quadrants.

Patterson et al. (2005) argue that the Open system quadrant and its OCM dimensions have an emphasis on readiness for change. The dynamic and innovative nature of the Open systems quadrant would suggest that employees in this culture are more likely to possess positive attitudes towards organizational change (Jones et al., 2005). This is supported by Zammuto and Krakower (1991) who found that Open systems cultures are dynamic and entrepreneurial, usually displaying significant levels of adaptability and change readiness.

In addition to being conceptually related, the questions of the three OCM dimensions in the Open system quadrant are similar to Vakola's (2014) individual change readiness scale. However the level of analysis is different. While Vakola

(2014) focus on an individual perspective with question formulations such as "When changes occur in my company, I have always the intention to support them", the OCM questions in the Open system quadrant are on the organizational level and have formulations such as "This company is quick to respond when changes need to be made". Despite the fact that the two surveys are on different levels, the content of the six Vakola (2014) questions are similar to the 16 OCM questions in the Open system quadrant (Patterson et al., 2005).

Patterson et al. (2005) argue that the OCM can be used to examine relationship of a specific construct in or across quadrants in the CVF. This is fascinating because the quadrants on the diagonals in the CVF are diametrically opposite of each other. Accordingly, opposing or competing values can be examined. Patterson et al. (2005) argue that while studying change one should both examine the change related Open system quadrant and the opposite, the Internal process quadrant.

To summarize, Patterson et al. (2005) argue that parts of the OCM can be applied to measure organizational change. This is supported by empirical research which have shown that the Open system quadrant of the CVF is related to change readiness (e.g. Knight, 2014; Zammuto & Krakower, 1991). In addition to being conceptually related, the content of the OCM questions in the Open system quadrant are similar to the change readiness questions by Vakola (2014). This illustrates that the Open system quadrant can be used to measure change readiness.

#### **The Present Study**

The purpose of this thesis is to clarify central aspects of change readiness, focusing on how to successfully quantify readiness for change. Specifically this thesis examines how change readiness at different organizational levels are related to each other, the relation between positive and negative change readiness and whether qualitative measurements detects the same amount of change readiness as quantitative questionnaires.

Ongoing and successful changes are necessary for organizations to survive, be effective and sustain a competitive advantage. Despite the fact that change readiness is identified as a core issue related to a successful organizational change (Burke et al., 1984), organizational researchers and practitioners know little about the multifaceted nature of readiness for change (Szabla, 2007). Rafferty et al. (2013) argue that it is necessary to measure change readiness prior to a planned change in order to develop an accurate understanding of the likelihood of a successful change. This is supported

by Armenakis et al. (1993) who argue that change readiness should be assessed in order to identify gaps in employees change readiness, and thereby be able to reduce resistance to change and other threats to a successful change. It is therefore important to clarify how to successfully quantify change readiness.

Change readiness has often been understood as a positive attitude to change, while resistance to change has been understood as the opposing negative attitude to change (Bouckenooghe, 2010). It is therefore not surprising that there is a lack of research on a negative component of change readiness. Accordingly, it is unclear whether change readiness is similar to attitude research, where researchers have found that separate positive and negative attitudes can and do co-exist (e.g. Cacioppo et al., 1997; de Liver et al., 2007), or whether positive and negative change readiness are significantly different from each other. Understanding the nature of ambivalence in employee responses to change can be useful in identifying the most appropriate method to ensure a successful change (Piderit, 2000).

# *Hypothesis 1: "Positive change readiness is significantly different from negative change readiness"*

A number of researchers have expressed a need to examine change readiness using qualitative methods (e.g. Rafferty et al., 2013; Szabla, 2007). Piderit (2000) takes this further and argue that there is a need to study change using qualitative interviews. Since there is a lack of qualitative research on change readiness it is not surprising that there is also a lack of research using triangulation. By using more than one method, limitations and flaws in one method can be eliminated by the strengths of the other. When independent measures show the same pattern, or at least not contradictory, more certain and complete information can be obtained (Jonsen & Jehn, 2009). This thesis responds to the previously mentioned limitations in the research field and these authors call for further research by using both quantitative questionnaire and qualitative interviews to examine change readiness, thereby also taking advantage of the method of triangulation.

*Hypothesis 2: "The change readiness pattern measured by the survey will be identical to the change readiness pattern measured by the interview"* 

One major limitation of previous research is that few researchers have adopted a multilevel perspective. In response to this limitation and the call for future research of Rafferty et al. (2013), this thesis will examine the relationship between overall change readiness at the organizational and at the individual level. This relationship is theorized by Rafferty et al. (2013) and is represented with a lightly dashed line in their model (see Figure 1). They argue that there is a potential cross-level relationship between individual and organizational change readiness. However, they also state that this relationship needs further research.

*Hypothesis 3: "There is no difference in overall change readiness between individual and organizational level"* 

#### Method

Research on change readiness have mostly been done on organizations before the implementation of a big planned change (e.g. Holt et al., 2007a; Vakola, 2014). The Norwegian police will be facing substantial organizational changes in the near future due to the evolution of crime in Norway, the demand for more cost-efficient organizations and recent evaluations and analyses of the present Norwegian police force (e.g. NOU 2012:14, 2012; NOU 2013:9, 2013; Yilmaz, 2013). It has been signaled that the reforms will be in line with the recommendation from the evaluations and analyses (NOU 2013:9, 2013).

## **Qualitative Interview Data**

**Sample.** The qualitative interview data collection was conducted over a fouryear period from 2009 to 2012. This was part of a large ongoing research project, in collaboration between the Norwegian Police University College and the University of Oslo. A strategic sampling procedure was used to ensure subjects with three different job levels within each of the districts. The police chiefs in all of the 27 police districts in Norway were contacted. They selected the participants in the district based on their job level. 89 in-depth and open tape-recoded interviews were held with 30 police investigators, 30 principal investigators, and 29 chief police officers. From all but one district, three or four respondents, with at least one from each level, was interviewed. There were 26 female and 63 male respondents. In the largest district, a total of eight interviews were conducted to cover the range of different experiences and the complex crime picture. All participants received a letter of information with the interview questions prior to the interview (Appendix A).

**Interview procedure.** A trained interviewer from the Norwegian Police University College with extensive knowledge of the police organization conducted all of the 89 interviews to secure the reliability. In addition, a co-interviewer from the University of Oslo participated, with the purpose to ask follow-up questions. The cointerviewers were either members of the research group or master's students on the project. The interviews were conducted in the investigators' offices.

Being careful not to impose any ready-made categories, the respondents were asked to reflect on the strength, weaknesses, opportunities and threats of criminal investigation. This structure was chosen because it encourages the subject to reflect upon many different aspects of work, while still allowing for an open interview form. In addition to the four questions, follow-up questions were asked to make the subject clarify or elaborate on previously mentioned topics. The interviewers did not introduce new topics through follow-up questions, as this could bias the data.

**Treatment of the interviews.** The interviews were recorded on tape and were transcribed verbatim. Thereby including everything that is said during the interview, and excluding non-verbal communication such as gestures and facial expressions. This was done to ensure that as little information as possible is lost in connection with processing of the data. All local dialects were translated into Norwegian Bokmål.

The transcripts were then unitized, a step that is necessary before performing further coding of the data (Neuendorf, 2002). Unitizing is based on the principle of having the smallest possible meaningful interview statements. The whole data set consisted of a total of 18 929 units.

The statements were then coded on different frameworks, such as four organizational levels (IGLO - individual-, group-, leadership-, and organizational level) and SWOT (strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, threats). The statements were also coded on the 17 different OCM dimensions. Statements that did not fit any of the categories were coded as residuals. The OCM coding was done by first attempting to identify the quadrant of CVF the statement belonged to. The purpose of doing this is to reduce the number of potential categories to a more manageable number. Doing so can also ensure more consistent coding on categories that otherwise might seem to overlap. How statements had previously been coded on SWOT and IGLO was also considered.

Inter-rater tests were conducted in the different steps of the data treatment to control the reliability throughout the process (Neuendorf, 2002). Inter-rater reliability

among coders was measured by calculating pairwise Krippendorff's Alpha and percentage agreement across three different interviews. Reliability was measured both for the top-down coding on SWOT and OCM. On SWOT Krippendorff's Alpha ranged from 0.44 to 0.66 with an average of 0.57. The pairwise percentage agreement ranged from 57.8% to 73.7%, with an average percentage agreement of 67.1%. The OCM inter-rater was measured in the middle of the coding process. Krippendoff's Alpha was 0.36. Pairwise percentage agreement had an average of 49.26%.

**Measure.** The interview was used as a measurement at the individual level. To test the first hypothesis which addressed whether positive and negative change readiness are different from each other, the Open system and Internal process quadrant in the CVF were used. The Open system quadrant was used as an operationalization of positive change readiness since this quadrant and its OCM questions capture the phenomena change readiness (see "Measuring Change Readiness using OCM"). The Internal process quadrant was chosen for examining the competing values to the change readiness quadrant. The Internal process quadrant was used as an operationalization of negative change readiness.

The OCM dimensions in the quadrants were used to calculate the score on the CVF quadrants in accordance to Patterson et al. (2005). The Open systems quadrant includes the OCM dimensions Innovation & flexibility, Outward focus and Reflexivity, and Internal process quadrant consists of Formalization and Tradition. Only the statements coded on these five OCM dimensions were used. Of 18929 statements, only 2984 were coded on these dimensions belonging to the Open system quadrant or the Internal process quadrant. The rest of the statements were discarded, since they were not relevant for change readiness. Of the 89 participants, one participant did not mention topics that are included in these two quadrant and was therefore excluded from the analysis.

To test the first hypothesis, whether positive and negative change readiness are different from each other, the SWOT dimensions were used. A value on strength and opportunity was valued as a positive statement, while weakness and threat as a negative statement. The positive and negative statements were then compared both in the Open system quadrant and in the Internal process quadrant. Since the Open system quadrat was operationalized as positive change readiness, a positive coded statement in this quadrant was interpreted as positive change readiness. A negative coded statement in this quadrant was interpreted as negative change readiness.

Following the same logic, a positive statement in the Internal process quadrant, which was operationalized as negative change readiness, was interpreted as a negative change readiness statement, and a negative statement in this quadrant was interpreted as a positive change readiness statement.

Analysis. The hypotheses were tested with a mixed strand of the qualitative interview data. The mixed strand of data was aggregated at the level of each participant. This involved summing up of the number of statements coded at each SWOT dimension and OCM for each participant. The aggregated file did therefore have the participants in the rows, with one participant in each row, and the different variables as columns. The variables were the number of statements for each of the four SWOT dimension and residuals divided on the five OCM dimensions and the CVF quadrants (35 variables in total).

A Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was performed to test if the interview data was normally distributed. The Open system quadrant D(87) = 0.14, p < 0.01, and Internal process D(87) = 0.18, p < .01 were both significantly non-normal. It was therefore necessary to use non-parametric tests (Field, 2011).

## **Quantitative Survey Data**

**Sample.** The quantitative sample for the questionnaire originated from the interview sample, as each interviewee was asked to fill out a survey after their interview. The sample consisted of 76 participants. All but one were also part of the interview sample. Everyone of the 27 districts were represented.

The first 51 participants received an email following the interview, inviting them to complete the survey, and then the survey was sent by mail. 39 (76.5%) participants completed the survey. In addition one person who had not been interviewed completed the survey. The last 38 participants were handed a physical copy of the survey after the interview. This increased the response rate. 36 (92.3%) participants responded. Combined, 75 of the 90 participants completed the survey, resulting in a response rate of 83.3%.

**Procedure.** Quantitative data was gathered using the Organizational Climate Measure (OCM). As previously mentioned, the OCM consists of 82 items that assess respondents' perception of their work environment on 17 scales. A version of the questionnaire translated to Norwegian was used to increase comprehension within the given context. This translation has been validated by Bernstrøm (2009).

The first 51 participants received the survey by mail after their interview. The letters were personally addressed and sent to the place of work. The letters contained a personal letter, an instruction, the survey and an addressed return envelope. The last 38 participants were given the questionnaire and handed it in to the interviewer immediately or sent the completed survey by post using a stamped addressed envelope accompanying the survey.

**Measure.** The OCM was used at an organizational level. The OCM dimensions in the quadrants were used to calculate the score on the CVF quadrant in accordance to Patterson et al. (2005). The Open system quadrant was used as an operationalization of positive change readiness since this quadrant captures the change readiness concept (see "Measuring Change Readiness using OCM"). The Internal process quadrant was used as an operationalization of negative change readiness.

**Analysis.** The results were manually punched into SPSS version 20. Missing values were replaced by the mean on the respective scale. Then, the values on the respective scales for each respondent were combined in order to generate an aggregated score for each respondent on each scale. This was done in accordance with the guidelines provided by Patterson et al. (2005).

A t-test was used. The dependent t-test is a parametric test and therefore assume that the sample follows a normal distribution and that data are measured at least at the interval level (Field, 2011). To test if the survey data were normally distributed, a Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was performed on both the Open system quadrant D(75) = 0.06, p = .20, and Internal process quadrant D(75) = 0.09, p = .18, showing that both these measures have normal distribution. The data were measured with a 4 point Liket scale and is therefore an interval variable. Both assumptions for the paired-sample t-test are therefore fulfilled.

#### **Combined Data**

The combined data sample consisted of 75 participants. This sample was based on the interview and the survey data samples. The combined data sample consisted of the participants that were interviewed and completed and returned the OCM survey. One of the participants who completed the OCM questionnaire was not interviewed and was therefore excluded from the combined data sample. The sample, procedure and measure for the combined method sample are therefore the same as the

above description for the qualitative interview and the quantitative survey data. All of the 27 districts were represented.

A separate aggregated file was created for the combined data. Like the interview data, the combined data had an aggregated file with each participant in the rows and variables in the columns. In addition to the 35 variables form the interview data, the combined data file also included the survey score for each of the five OCM dimensions, and a score for the two CVF quadrants. This made a total of 43 variables.

Since the combined data included a different number of participants than the interview data, a Kolmogrov-Smirnov test was performed on the combined data interview sample to test whether it was significantly non-normal. The Open system quadrant was significantly non-normal D(74) = .13, p < .01. The Internal process data were also significantly non-normal D(74) = .11, p < .05. Non-parametric test were therefore used for the combined data sample.

## **Ethical considerations**

The project is approved by the Norwegian Social Science Data Service (NSD – Norsk Sammfunnsvitenskaplige Datatjeneste). Before participation, all participants were informed about the procedure and purpose behind the study (Appendix A). The participation was voluntary, and the participants received and signed informed consent forms. It was possible to withdraw at any time during the interview or afterwards. The interviews were recorded, which the participants agreed to in advance. After transcription the recorded files from the interviews were deleted.

To ensure anonymity, the survey and interview data are in separate files. Another researcher on the project paired the interview and survey data, as only two persons have the key with the pairing number. This was done to further ensure anonymity. The final data file is numerical and does not provide any information regarding the participants' identity or contains the statements from the interview. It only contains the frequency of statements coded on SWOT and OCM, and the OCM scores and CVF scores from the survey.

#### Results

#### **Descriptive Statistics**

**Qualitative interview data**. The interview data was used to test the first hypothesis. It consisted of 2984 statements from 88 participants that were coded on either the Open system or the Internal process quadrant of the CVF. One of the 89 participants did not mention topics that are included in these two quadrants, hence did

not have any statements that were coded on neither Open system nor Internal process. This participant was excluded from the analysis. The number of statements ranged from 1 to 84 per person, with a mean of 21.14 for Open system and from 1 to 61 per person with a mean of 12.87 for Internal process. As previously mentioned, the Open system quadrant was operationalized as positive change readiness, while the Internal process quadrant was operationalized as negative change readiness. Table 1 show the distribution of statements coded on SWOT.

#### Table 1

	Strength	Weakness	Opportunity	Threat	Residual	Total
Positive change	511	372	700	226	30	1839
readiness	511	572	700	220	50	1057
Negative change	222	417	192	175	27	1145
readiness	222	41/	105	175	57	1143
Total	844	789	883	401	67	2984

SWOT statements distributed on positive and negative change readiness

There were approximately an equal amount of statements coded on strength (844 statements, 28.3%), weakness (789 statements, 26.4%) and opportunity (883 statements, 29.6%), while threat had 401 statements (13.4%). Positive change readiness had a total of 1839 statements (61.6%), while the negative change readiness had a total of 1145 statements (38.4%). The positive change readiness had most statements coded on opportunity with 700 statements (38.1%), while the negative change readiness had most statements coded on weaknesses with 417 (36.4%). A total of 67 (2.2%) statements were coded as residuals. This indicates that the SWOT structure is capable of catching a large proportion of the statements given during the interviews.

To test the first hypothesis, the strength and opportunity were combined to positive scores and weaknesses and threats were combined to negative scores. As shown in table 2, which is derived from table 1, positive change readiness had 1211 positive statements (65.9%), while negative change readiness had 516 positive statements (45.1%). Positive and negative change readiness have almost the same amount of negative statements with 598 and 592 respectively. However, positive

change readiness has more then twice as many positive statements, thereby reducing the percentage of negative statements.

Table 2

*Positive and negative statements distributed on positive and negative change readiness* 

	Positive	Negative	Residual	Total
Positive change readiness	1211	598	30	1839
Negative change readiness	516	592	37	1145

**Quantitative survey data**. The survey data consists of data from 76 OCM questionnaires. Table 3 presents the descriptive statistics for the survey measure for positive and negative change readiness.

#### Table 3

Descriptive statistics for positive and negative change readiness

	Min	Max	Mean	SD
Positive change readiness	1.60	3.51	2.60	0.47
Negative change readiness	1.90	4.00	2.88	0.41

The OCM questionnaire uses a 4 point Likert scale ranging from 1 "definitely false", 2 "mostly false", 3 "mostly true" to 4 "definitely true". An aggregated score below 2 is considered negative, a score between 2 and 3 is considered neutral, and a score above 3 is considered positive. Both the positive and negative change readiness had a mean between 2 and 3, and are therefore considered to be neutral. The survey data indicates that the participants on average were neutral toward both positive and negative change readiness.

**Combined data.** The combined data was used to test the second and third hypotheses. It was extracted from the interview sample by extracting only the participants that were both interviewed and completed the survey. The combined data sample consisted of 75 participants. One of the participants who completed the OCM questionnaire was not interviewed and was therefore excluded from the combined data sample.

Open-ended interview data were standardized through a transformation process in order to be comparable with the survey data, inspired by the calculations of Berglund (2012). The positive SWOT statements (strength and opportunity) were added and computed as positive values, while the negative SWOT statements (weakness and threat) were added and computed as negative values. Individual indexes were calculated for participants on the respective CVF quadrant with the equation:

$$Calculated index \ score = \frac{Component_{pos} - Component_{neg}}{Component_{pos} + Component_{neg}}$$

This calculation gave an estimate of whether the participant was mostly positive or negative, ranging from -1 to 1. The formula by Berglund (2012) was changed to make this index comparable and in the same range as the OCM survey, where scores ranges from 1 to 4:

$$Calculated \ index \ score = \left(\frac{Component_{pos} - Component_{neg}}{Component_{pos} + Component_{neg}} \times 1.5\right) + 2.5$$

Table 4

Descriptive statistics for the combined sample using the calculated index score

	Interview		Questio	Questionnaire		
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD		
Positive change readiness	2.89	0.61	2.60	0.41		
Negative change readiness	2.37	0.79	2.88	0.40		

As shown in table 4, the positive change readiness had a more higher mean when measured with interview at the individual level compared to the organizational level measured by questionnaire. However, negative change readiness had a higher score at the organizational level compared to the individual level. A t-test was performed to se if this relationship between individual level and organizational level was significant.

#### **Inferential Statistics**

**Hypothesis 1.** The hypothesis "*positive change readiness is significantly different from negative change readiness*" was first tested for the Open system quadrant, and for the opposite quadrant, the Internal process quadrant. A t-test was used to examine whether the positive attitudes to change readiness were significantly different from negative attitudes in each quadrant. The SWOT coding made it possible to test whether the difference between positive and negative change readiness was significantly different in both quadrants, one was operationalized as positive change readiness (Open system quadrant) and one was operationalized as negative change readiness (Internal process quadrant).

The non-parametric Wilcoxon Signed ranked test was performed since the interview data was non-normal distributed. There was a significant difference between the frequency of the positive and negative statements for the Open system quadrant. There were significantly more positive statements than negative statements (T = 215.5, p < .001). However, there was not a significant difference between the positive and negative change readiness for the Internal process quadrant (T = 868.0, p = .13).

Another way to test this hypothesis is to calculate an index score in each quadrant. The calculated index score was used to compare positive change (Open system quadrant) to negative change readiness (Internal system quadrant). There was a significant difference (T = 513, p < .001) when using the calculated index score.

A third way to test this hypothesis is to test the relationship between positive and negative change readiness at an organizational level. Since the qualitative survey data is normally distributed, a t-test was used. When comparing positive change readiness (Open system quadrant) with negative change readiness (Internal process quadrant) there was a significant difference (t(75) = 3.58, p < .001).

After running four different tests on the first hypothesis, it is only partially supported. There was a significant difference at the organizational level, however in one of three tests at the individual level there was not a significant difference.

**Hypothesis 2.** Two separate t-tests were performed to test whether interviews can detect the same pattern in change readiness as the survey. One t-test was used on the interview calculated index score and another on the survey data. The relationship between the positive change readiness and negative change readiness was tested for

both samples. This was done in order to examine whether the pattern in the two samples were similar.

The positive change readiness had a significantly higher score than the negative change readiness when measured by the interview (T = 513, p < .001). However, the pattern was opposite in the survey data. Negative change readiness (M = 2.88, SE = 0.05) had a higher score compared to positive change readiness (M = 2.60, SE = 0.4), t(75) = 3.58, p < .001. Since the patterns are different in the interview sample and survey sample, the second hypothesis is discarded.

**Hypothesis 3.** A Wilcoxon Signed ranked test was used to test the hypothesis "there is no difference in overall change readiness between individual and organizational level". The organizational level measured by the questionnaire was compared to the individual level measured by the interview calculated index score. When comparing the interview and questionnaire, positive change readiness was significantly different at the individual and organizational levels (T = 765, p < .001). This was also true for negative change readiness; the individual and organizational level were significantly different (T = 610, p < .001). This shows that there is a difference in change readiness between individual and organizational level, thereby rejecting the third hypothesis.

#### Discussion

The purpose of this thesis is to clarify central aspects of change readiness, focusing on how to successfully quantify readiness for change. As pointed out above, there is little knowledge about the multifaceted nature of change readiness (Szabla, 2007). In order to provide researchers and practitioners with insight and more knowledge on the topic, this thesis studies three hypotheses related to change readiness and how to measure it.

The first hypothesis addressed the issue of whether positive change readiness was different from negative change readiness and it was partially supported. Positive change readiness was significantly different from negative change readiness when measured for the Open system quadrant of the CVF. In addition, a significant difference was found when using the calculated index score and comparing positive readiness measured by the Open system quadrant to negative change readiness measured by the Internal process quadrant for both the interview and the survey data. However when measuring for the Internal process quadrant there was not a significant

difference. This indicates that there is an ambivalent relationship between positive and negative change readiness.

The second hypothesis addressed whether the interview detected the same pattern in change readiness as the survey, and it was discarded. The interview detected more positive than negative change readiness. The survey, on the other hand, detected more negative than positive change readiness. By using interviews to measure change readiness the interviewee is free to use his or her own words and categories. Open-ended interviews allow for in depth exploration of individuals' evaluation of relevant themes in a specific context. This could lead to a different level of change readiness then by using a survey with pre-selected categories.

The third hypothesis addressed whether change readiness at individual and organizational level were the same and it was also discarded. A significant difference between change readiness at the individual level and at the organizational level was found both for positive and negative change readiness. This indicates that individual and organizational change readiness are different from each other.

The second and third hypotheses were tested using two different methods to measure change readiness at two different levels. A significantly more positive score was detected measured by interview at the individual level compared to the survey which measured at the organizational level. It is therefore difficult to say whether the difference detected was a result of an effect from the measurement, the level it was measured at or a combination of the two. This is discussed further in the next section.

As illustrated by these three hypotheses and their findings, measuring change readiness is not as easy as first thought. These three hypotheses addressed different gaps in the research field. There has been a lack of research on how positive and negative change readiness are related to each other. Results from this thesis indicate that there is an ambiguous relationship between positive and negative change readiness. In addition to a lack of research on negative change readiness, there is also a lack of research on change readiness done with qualitative methods. It was found that interviews and surveys did not detect the same level of change readiness. Lastly, individual and organizational change readiness were significantly different from each other. This addresses a lack in the research field on research using and examining different levels of change readiness. In summary, this thesis contributes to the field by shedding light on different gaps in the field of change readiness and focus on how to successfully quantify readiness for change.

#### **Implications for Theory and Practice**

Change readiness has been identified as a core issue related to the success of an organizational change (Armenakis et al., 1993). In order to develop an accurate perception and thereby increasing the probability of an effective change, it is important to measure change readiness prior to large-scale change implementation. In addition, understanding that reaction to change can be ambivalent on a multidimensional level helps practitioners choose better measurements that can identify this ambivalence.

Seo, Putnam, and Bartunek (2004) identified the dimension positive versus negative as crucial characteristics of the change process. However, there is a lack of research on negative change readiness in general and more specifically how negative relates to positive change readiness. A possible explanation is that change readiness often has been interpreted as a positive attitude towards change, while resistance to change has been understood as the opposing negative attitude.

In the absence of substantial research on negative change readiness, a description of these attitudes can be based on the more general research on attitudes of change. Negative change readiness can be described as a pessimistic focus that accentuates negative aspect of organizations, such as various problems at hand (Bouckenooghe, 2010). On the other hand, positive change readiness can be said to emphasize the optimistic reasons for change, such as creating new opportunities or developing a positive future vision (Seo et al., 2004).

Results from this thesis indicate that the relationship between positive and negative change readiness is not as simple as first thought. In one of the three tests at the individual level, a significant difference did not emerge. This indicates that change readiness at an individual level can be both positive and negative at the same time. However, when tested at the organizational level, there was a significant difference between positive and negative change readiness. This indicates that the coexistence between positive and negative change readiness only exists on the individual level.

The results indicate that people are nuanced and have complex attitudes to change at the individual level. This is in contrast to the conceptualization of change readiness as defined by Armenakis et al. (1993). They conceptualize change readiness only as a positive attitude, ranging from low to high. Based on their definition, one would expect to find a significant difference between positive and negative change

readiness in all of the three tests. The findings in this thesis is also in contrast with Rafferty et al. (2013) who argue that change readiness is either a positive or a negative attitude towards change. However, the results are more in compliance with newer attitude research, where researchers have found that separate positive and negative attitude co-exist (e.g. Cacioppo et al., 1997; de Liver et al., 2007). The findings show that change readiness is more complex than earlier assumed, and thus increase the diversity of the perception of change readiness.

The co-existence of positive and negative attitudes reflects the ambivalent nature of change readiness. Drawing on attitude research, the ambivalence can result from simultaneously conflicting beliefs within the cognitive component, or from a conflict between the cognitive and affective component (Ajzen, 2001; Eagly & Chaiken, 1993). This is in line with Piderit (2000) who argue that attitudes towards change are tridimensional with a cognitive, an affective and an intentional component. The ambivalence detected in change readiness can therefore be a consequence of conflicting positive and negative change readiness within the cognitive dimension or from conflicts between positive and negative change readiness in the cognitive and affective dimension. Understanding that reaction to change can be contradictory helps practitioners understand that negative beliefs and negative emotions not necessarily lead to positive intentions and actions, as positive beliefs and positive emotions not necessarily lead to positive intentions and actions (Szabla, 2007).

It is unclear how co–existence of positive and negative change readiness influences a person's overall change readiness level. It is possible that negative change readiness acts as an opposite force to positive change readiness and thereby they could neutralize each other in a linear fashion, or exponential, or even not at all. By using just one score to indicate change readiness it is uncertain what this value reflects. It is therefore important for managers to assess both the negative and the positive change readiness independently in order to get a complete picture of the employees' change readiness level. Thereby being able to more accurately assess readiness for change before a planned transition.

Understanding the nature of ambivalence in employee responses to change can be useful in identifying the most appropriate method to ensure a successful change (Piderit, 2000). The results from the first hypothesis in this thesis indicate that, in contradiction to previous research and definitions of change readiness, there is an ambivalent relationship between positive and negative change readiness indicating

that these two can co-exist. Accordingly, it is still unclear how positive and negative change readiness influence a persons overall change readiness. It is therefore important to measure separately both positive and negative change readiness.

In order to test the second and third hypotheses in this thesis, two different methods were used to measure change readiness at two different organizational levels. The two methods were not used in parallel at the same level. A significantly more positive score was measured at the individual level using interviews compared to the score at the organizational level where a survey was used. It is therefore difficult to conclude if the difference detected is a result of an effect of the measurement itself, an actual difference in change readiness at the two different organizational levels or a combination of the two. In order to examine these findings systematically, the discussion will first focus on analyzing the implications assuming that the difference detected is a result of the method chosen. Then the implications for the organizational level will be discussed assuming that the difference observed is an effect of the relationship between individual and organizational levels. The implication of not using the methods in parallel will then be further discussed under "Limitations".

Many researchers have expressed a need to examine change readiness using qualitative methods (e.g. Rafferty et al., 2013; Szabla, 2007), and specifically with qualitative interviews (Piderit, 2000). Since there is a lack of qualitative research on change readiness it is not surprising that there is also a lack of research using triangulation. An objective for using triangulation is to increase the understanding of a phenomena, and thereby also provide more complete information (Jonsen & Jehn, 2009). Cambell and Fiske (1958) recommend that more than one method should be used to confirm that the variance detected reflects that of the construct. To assess the limitations in the field of research, this thesis used both questionnaires and interviews to examine change readiness.

Various research on mixed-methods show that interviews and surveys are based on incompatible and incommensurable philosophical assumptions (e.g. Howe, 1988; Ogborne, 1995). However, this is in contrast with other research which show that these methods are comparable (e.g. Jex, Adams, Elacqua, & Lux, 1997; Lund, 2005). The results from this thesis show that change readiness was different measuring with interviews compared to using a survey. The results indicate that the construct change readiness depends on which method is used to measure it. It is therefore not indifferent which method is chosen. This has practical implications,

making the choice of method of utmost importance. Taken to an extreme, measurements of change readiness can be biased by the sole choice of method.

The results show that the participants have a higher score on negative change readiness in the survey compared to the interview. In addition, a higher score on positive change readiness in the interview compared to the survey was found. A possible interpretation of these results is that the participant aims to mirror more social desirable attitudes, behaviors or perceptions. Answers from surveys may reflect what a participant assumes to be an appropriate answer based on the wording of the question. However, this may also occur or even be stronger in the interviews. Richman, Kiesler, Weisband, and Drasgow (1999) found that survey reduced social desirability compared to interviews since they are self-administered and more removed from the social cues that emerge in an interview situation. This could lead to more positive change readiness in the interview compared to the survey.

Richman et al. (1999) also found that face-to-face interviews were motivating and encourage longer, more elaborated answers. Hence, the participant could be more reflected in the interview, giving longer answers. This could also lead to more positive change readiness in the interview compared to the survey. Through interviews employees can more openly express their feelings, attitudes and concerns regarding change, not being limited to the preselected questions. In addition, interview research can play a role in uncovering important work components that are not covered by structured survey instruments. Through interviews it is also possible to receive suggestions on necessary actions to be implemented in order to make the whole change process more successful. This represents a bottom–up input. However interviews are time consuming, subjective and difficult to prove reliable and valid. Surveys, on the other hand, are time-efficient and easy to administer. However, surveys consist only of pre-selected items and components. Because of these differences, the method can accentuate different opinions regarding the components (Lund, 2005).

In this thesis the interview can influence the results of the survey since the participants may have been primed with the same themes twice. However, the questions differ. The questions in the interview were general questions regarding the daily work, and the questions in the survey were specific questions measuring organizational climate.

To summarize, by using both interview and survey this thesis aims to contribute to the field of research by using both qualitative methods and triangulation. The results indicate that positive change readiness is higher when using interviews compared to using surveys. This can be a consequence of social desirability, or simply because some of the strengths or limitations that are inherent in the method itself.

An increasing number of researchers consider that adequate theories of change should incorporate multiple levels and should explain relationships among these levels (e.g. Bouckenooghe, 2010; Dansereau, Yammarino, & Kohles, 1999). Specifically, Rafferty et al. (2013) argue that it is essential to adopt a multilevel perspective in order to understand the individual and organizational implications of change readiness. By adopting a multilevel perspective in this thesis, individual and organizational change readiness were found to be significantly different from each other.

Individual readiness for change reflects an individual's unique interpretive reality of the organization (Eby, Adams, Russell, & Gaby, 2000). Eby et al. (2000) argue that individuals who perceived themselves as ready to change adapt more easily to change and may be more likely to view organizational readiness for change as favorable. Organizational change readiness, on the other hand, involves collective action by employees, each of whom contributes something to the change implementation effort (Weiner, 2009). Bouckenooghe (2010) argues that change readiness emerge not only through a process of individual reflection but also through collective sense-making that comes from a series of interactions with others. Rafferty et al. (2013) argue that organizational change readiness emerge from collective beliefs and affective responses of individuals that become shared based on social interaction processes. It is possible that these differences at the individual and organizational level can contribute to the result in this thesis, namely more positive change readiness at the individual level compared to the organizational level.

Previous research has showed that there are different antecedents for individual and organizational change readiness (e.g. Eby et al., 2000; Jones et al., 2005; Weiner, 2009). It is therefore not surprising to find that change readiness at different levels are different from each other. Effective use of change management processes, positive psychological traits and effective communication are some of the antecedents for change readiness at the individual level (Rafferty et al., 2013). However, on the organizational level change readiness is positively associated with

CEO's readiness for change, organizational culture that are characterized by acceptance of adaptability and development and flexible organizational design (Rafferty et al., 2013). The different antecedents could also be a reason for more positive change readiness at the individual level and more negative change readiness at the organizational level.

By measuring change readiness prior to a planned change, it is possible to develop an accurate understanding of the likelihood of an effective change, get important diagnostic information and thereby be able to reduce resistance to change and other threats to a successful change (e.g. Armenakis et al., 1993; Rafferty et al., 2013). Researchers often base their statements on organizational change readiness on results from the individual level. Results from this thesis illustrates that this is problematic since individual and organizational change readiness are different from each other. Measuring change readiness should therefore be done at the desired level, and results cannot be generalized to another level than the information is gathered at.

The change readiness framework by Rafferty et al. (2013) shows that overall change readiness at the individual and organizational level have a potential cross-level relationship (see Figure 1). However, this thesis found that individual and organizational change readiness are significantly different from each other. This indicates that they are more loosely coupled than initially thought. As previously mentioned, this difference can be a result of different conceptualization for individual and organizational change readiness, different antecedents, to name two possible explanations.

In order to provide researchers and practitioners with insight and more knowledge on the topic, this thesis studied three hypotheses related to change readiness and its successful measurement. It was found that there is an ambivalent relationship between positive and negative change readiness, indicating that these two can co-exist. This implies that both positive and negative change readiness should be addressed separately. It was also found that individual change readiness measured by the interview was significantly larger than organizational change readiness measured by the survey. This indicates that the choice of method to assess change readiness is not indifferent, since one method detects more positive and less negative change readiness are different from each other. This illustrates the need to assess change readiness at the appropriate level, and not use data at one level to make

assumptions about the other level. Change readiness is therefore a more complex concept than earlier assumed.

#### Limitations

Although the findings reported in this study make a contribution to the field of change readiness, several limitations must be acknowledged. In the following section the most important limitations are discussed.

First, there is the question if the results from this study on change readiness in the Norwegian police force can be generalized to other organizations. The Norwegian police is a government organization, and is therefore not subject to any competition in the marked. This could influence the employees' change readiness. However, as previous research on change readiness, this study was done in a large organization about to undergo a big change.

A second limitation is that the interview questions were about strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats regarding the quality of the work on investigations. It can therefore be questioned if these data can be used to study change readiness. However, the assumption behind this framework is that interviewees talk about what are most important to them. Specific questions about change and change readiness were not asked. However, semi structured, open-ended interviews is a good method for collecting data, and can provide researchers with lots of information. Consequently, 98.88% of the participants did talk about change readiness during the interviews.

A third limitation is low inter-rater reliability. The interviews had a Krippendorff's alpha of 0.36 on the OCM coding in the middle of the coding process. To increase the inter-rater, comprehensive coding document were developed during the coding. In addition, unitizing reliability was not estimated. The structure of language and thoughts may necessitate communication in larger units. It is possible that unitizing have not properly captured the participant's statements. Krippendorff (2004) argues that overly shortened statements may reduce reliability. However, the interviewees elaborated on several psychological components. Larger units could therefore miss some of the concepts.

A fourth limitation is operationalizing the Open system quadrant in the CVF as positive change readiness, and the Internal process quadrant as negative change readiness. It is possible that by using quadrants is the CVF as an operationalization of change readiness, something else than the phenomenon change readiness was

detected. However, previous research shows that change readiness is linked to the flexible quadrants in the CVF, and especially the Open system quadrant (e.g. Cunha & Cooper, 2002; Haffar et al., 2014). In addition, the questions in the OCM and the change readiness questionnaire by Vakola (2014) are similar. Further, Patterson et al. (2005) argue while studying change one should both examine the change related Open system quadrant and the opposite, the Internal process quadrant.

Lastly, two different methods were used to measure change readiness at two different levels. The two methods were not used in parallel to register change readiness at the same level. It is therefore possible that the differences detected between the individual and organizational level were a result of the methods used and not the levels measured at. It is therefore difficult to say whether the differences detected were because of the measurement method, the level measured at or a combination of the two.

#### **Directions for Further Research**

The results form this thesis indicate that change readiness is ambivalent on an individual level. It is therefore possible that a person could have both positive and negative change readiness at the same time. How the positive component relates to the negative component is unclear. Further research is needed on how positive change readiness and negative change readiness influence each other and how they are related to overall change readiness. Drawing on attitude research, this ambivalence in change readiness can result from simultaneously conflicting beliefs within the cognitive component, or from a conflict between cognition and affect (Ajzen, 2001; Eagly & Chaiken, 1993). Further research is therefore needed on how positive and negative change readiness is related to Piderit's (2000) tridimensional view of attitudes toward change with a cognitive, affective and intentional component. In addition, more research is needed on how positive and negative change readiness relate to resistance to change. Some researchers have argued that readiness for change can reduce resistance to change and other obstacles to a successful change. In line with this logic, it is unclear if negative change readiness will increase resistance to change. This needs further research.

This thesis also found, by using two different methods, that the interview detected a higher amount of positive change readiness compared to the survey. However, the different methods were used at two different organizational levels. The interview measured individual change readiness, whereas the survey measured

organizational change readiness. Thereby also finding that the individual level had a higher amount of change readiness than at the organizational level. It is unclear whether the differences between individual and organizational level are due to real differences between these levels or an effect of the measurement used, or a combination of these. Further research is needed to elaborate and examine the relationship between interview and survey, and between individual and organizational change readiness.

This thesis focused only on the individual and organizational level. However, the work group has been theoretically conceptualized as a level that can influence change readiness. Additional research is also needed to see if work group change readiness is different from organizational change readiness, or if they behave as a collective change readiness phenomenon.

The findings of this study suggest that measuring change readiness is not as easy as first thought. Results show that change readiness is ambivalent on the individual level, and that there is a significant difference between change readiness detected at the individual level measured by interviews and at the organizational level measured by surveys. However, the sample was limited to only the police force in Norway. More research is needed to test these findings in other organizations.

#### Conclusion

The purpose of this thesis is to clarify central aspects of change readiness, focusing on how to successfully quantify readiness for change. There has been a lack of research on how positive and negative change readiness are related to each other. Results from this thesis indicate that there is an ambivalent relationship between positive and negative change readiness, indicating that these two can co-exist at the individual level. This implies that both positive and negative change readiness should be addressed separately.

Studying change readiness is mainly done using surveys. Hence, few have used qualitative methods and consequently there is a lack of the use of triangulation between different methods. To address this, this thesis used both open-ended interview and survey using the same subjects. Individual change readiness measured by the interview was found to be significantly larger than organizational change readiness measured by the survey. This illustrates that the choice of method to assess change readiness is important.

Lastly, the results from this thesis indicate that change readiness at individual and organizational levels are different. This addresses a gap in the field regarding lack of research using and examining different levels of change readiness. The results illustrate the need to assess change readiness at the appropriate level, and not use data at one level as a basis for assumptions on other levels.

Motivation for change is a key factor for a successful change process and in particular, the importance of readiness for organizational change is crucial. Not surprisingly, change readiness has grown increasingly important as a construct for research and practice. In summary, this thesis contributes to the research field by providing a better understanding of how to measure change readiness by focusing on central aspects of the conceptualization of change readiness.

#### References

- Ajzen, I. (2001). Nature and operation of attitudes. *Annual review of psychology*, *52*(1), 27-58. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.52.1.27
- Armenakis, A. A., Harris, S. G., & Mossholder, K. W. (1993). Creating Readiness for Organizational Change. *Human Relations*, 46(6), 681-703. doi: 10.1177/001872679304600601
- Berglund, L.-M. (2012). *The Use of Mixed-Methods When Analysing Work Components in Police Investigation* (Master thesis), University of Oslo, Oslo.
- Bernstrøm, V. H. (2009). *Investigating the Organizational Climate Measure's Generalizability*. (Master thesis), University of Oslo, Oslo.
- Bouckenooghe, D. (2010). Positioning Change Recipients' Attitudes Toward Change in the Organizational Change Literature. *The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, *46*(4), 500-531. doi: 10.1177/0021886310367944
- Bouckenooghe, D., Devos, G., & Van den Broeck, H. (2009). Organizational Change Questionnaire-Climate of Change, Processes, and Readiness: development of a New Instrument. *The Journal of Psychology: Interdisciplinary and Applied*, 143(6), 559-599. doi: 10.1080/00223980903218216
- Brodbeck, P. W. (2002). Implications for organization design: teams as pockets of excellence. *Team Performance Management: An International Journal*, 8(1/2), 21-38. doi: 10.1108/13527590210425068
- Burke, W. W., Clark, L. P., & Koopman, C. (1984). Improve your OD project's change for success. *Training & Development Journal, 38*(9), 62-68.
- Burnes, B., & Jackson, P. (2011). Success and Failure In Organizational Change: An Exploration of the Role of Values. *Journal of Change Management*, 11(2), 133-162. doi: 10.1080/14697017.2010.524655
- Burns, B. (2005). Complexity theories and organizational change. *International Journal of Management Reviews*, 7(2), 73-90. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-2370.2005.00107.x
- Cacioppo, J. T., Gardner, W. L., & Berntson, G. G. (1997). Beyond bipolar conceptualizations and measures: the case of attitudes and evaluative space. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 1(1), 3-25. doi: 10.1207/s15327957pspr0101\_2

- Cambell, D. T., & Fiske, D. W. (1958). Convergent and discriminant validation by the multitrait-multimethod matrix. *Psychological Bulletin*, 56(2), 81-105. doi: 10.1037/h0046016
- Cameron, K. S., Quinn, R. E., Degraff, J., & Thakor, A. V. (2006). Competing Values Leadership: Creating Value in Organizations. Cheltenham, UK: Edward Elgar Publishing Limited.
- Cunha, R. C., & Cooper, C. L. (2002). Does privatization affect corporate culture and employee wellbeing? *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, *17*(1), 21-49. doi: 0.1108/02683940210415915
- Dansereau, F., Yammarino, F. J., & Kohles, J. C. (1999). Multiple levels of analysis from a longitudinal perspective: Some implications for theory building. *Academy of management review*, 24(2), 346-357. doi: 10.5465/AMR.1999.1893940
- de Liver, Y., van der Pligt, J., & Wigboldus, D. (2007). Positive and negative associations underlying ambivalent attitudes. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 43(2), 319-326. doi: 10.1016/j.jesp.2006.02.012
- Denzin, N. K. (1978). The Research Act (2nd ed.). New York, USA: McGraw-Hill.
- Eagly, A. H., & Chaiken, S. (1993). *The psychology of attitudes*. Orlando, USA: Harcourt Brace Jovanovich College Publishers.
- Eby, L. T., Adams, D. M., Russell, J. E. A., & Gaby, S. H. (2000). Perceptions of Organizational Readiness for Change: Factors Related to Employees' Reactions to the Implementation of Team-Based Selling. *Human Relations*, 53(3), 419-442. doi: 10.1177/0018726700533006
- Fedor, D. B., Caldwell, S., & Herold, D. M. (2006). The effects of organizational changes on employee commitment: A multilevel investigation. *Personnel Psychology*, 59(1), 1-29. doi: 10.1111/j.1744-6570.2006.00852.x
- Field, A. (2011). *Discovering statstics using SPSS* (3rd ed.). London, UK: SAGE Publication Ltd.
- Ford, J. K., & Foster-Fishman, P. (2012). Organizational Development and Change: Linking Research from the Profit, Nonprofit, and Public Sectors. In S. W. J.
  Kozlowski (Ed.), *The oxford handbook of organizational psychology* (Vol. 2, pp. 956-993). New York, USA: Oxford university press, Inc.
- Haffar, M., Al-Karaghouli, W., & Ghoneim, A. (2014). An empirical investigation of the influence of organizational culture on individual readiness for change in

Syrian manufacturing organizations. *Journal of Organizational Change Management, 27*(1), 5-22. doi: 10.1108/jocm-04-2012-0046

- Holt, D. T., Armenakis, A. A., Feild, H. S., & Harris, S. G. (2007a). Readiness for
   Organizational Change: The Systematic Development of a Scale. *Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, 43(2), 232-255. doi: 10.1177/0021886306295295
- Holt, D. T., Armenakis, A. A., Feild, H. S., & Harris, S. G. (2007b). Toward a Comprehensive Definition of Readiness for Change: A Review of Research and Instrumentation. In W. A. Pasmore & R. W. Woodman (Eds.), *Research in Organizational Change and Development* (Vol. 16, pp. 289-336). Oxford, UK: Elsevier.
- Holt, D. T., & Vardaman, J. M. (2013). Toward a Comprehensive Understanding of Readiness for Change: The Case for an Expanded Conceptualization. *Journal* of Change Management, 13(1), 9-18. doi: 10.1080/14697017.2013.768426
- Howe, K. R. (1988). Against the Quantitative-Qualitative Incompatibility Thesis or Dogmas Die Hard. *Educational researcher*, 17(8), 10-16. doi: 10.3102/0013189X017008010
- Ingersoll, G. L., Kirsch, J. C., Merk, S. E., & Lightfoot, J. (2000). Relationship of Organizational Culture and Readiness for Change to Employee Commitment to the Organization. *JONA: The Journal of Nursing Administration*, 30(1), 11-20. doi: 10.1097/00005110-200001000-00004
- Jex, S. M., Adams, G. A., Elacqua, T. C., & Lux, D. J. (1997). A comparison of incident-based and scale measures of work stressors. *Work & Stress*, 11(3), 229-238. doi: 10.1080/02678379708256837
- Jick, T. D. (1979). Mixing Qualitative and Quantitative Methods: Triangulation in Action. Administrative Science Quarterly, 24(4), 602-611. doi: 10.2307/2392366
- Jones, R. A., Jimmieson, N. L., & Griffiths, A. (2005). The Impact of Organizational Culture and Reshaping Capabilities on Change Implementation Success: The Mediating Role of Readiness for Change. *Journal of Management Studies*, 42(2), 361-386. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-6486.2005.00500.x
- Jonsen, K., & Jehn, K. A. (2009). Using triangulation to validate themes in qualitative studies. Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management: An International Journal, 4(2), 123-150. doi: 10.1108/17465640910978391

- Knight, R. (2014). Organisational Culture, Change Readiness, and Retention: a Human Service Perspecitve. (Doctoral Dissertation), Queensland University of Technology, Australia.
- Kozlowski, S. W. J., & Klein, K. J. (2000). A multilevel approach to theory and reseach in organizations: Contextual, temporal, and emergent process. In K. J. Klein & S. W. J. Kozlowski (Eds.), *Multilevel theory, reserach and methods in organizations* (pp. 3-90). San Fransisco, USA: Jossey-Bass.
- Krippendorff, K. (2004). *Content analysis: an introduction to its methodology*. California, USA: SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Lehman, W. E. K., Greener, J. M., & Simpson, D. (2002). Assessing organizational readiness for change. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 22(4), 197-209. doi: 10.1016/S0740-5472(02)00233-7
- Lewin, K. (1947). Frontiers in Group Dynamics: Concept, Method and Reality in Social Science; Social Equilibria and Social Change. *Human Relations*, 1(5), 5-41. doi: 10.1177/001872674700100103
- Lewin, K. (1952). Group decision and social change. In G. E. Swanson, T. M. Newcombe & E. L. Hartley (Eds.), *Readings in social psychology* (2nd ed., pp. 459-473). New York, USA: Holt.
- Lund, T. (2005). The Qualitative–Quantitative Distinction: Some comments. *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research, 49*(2), 115-132. doi: 10.1080/00313830500048790
- Neuendorf, K. A. (2002). *The Content Analysis Guidebook*. California, USA: SAGE Publications, Inc.
- NOU 2012:14 (2012). *Rapport fra 22. juli-kommisjonen*. Oslo: Departementenes servicesenter, Informasjonsforvaltning.
- NOU 2013:9 (2013). *Ett politi rustet til å møte fremtidens utfordringer*. Oslo: Departementenes servicesenter, Informasjonsavdelingen.
- Ogborne, A. C. (1995). Unhelpful divide but important distinction. *Addiction*, *90*(6), 755-757. doi: 10.1111/j.1360-0443.1995.tb02216.x
- Oreg, S., Vakola, M., & Armenakis, A. (2011). Change Recipients' Reactions to Organizational Change: A 60-Year Review of Quantitative Studies. *Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, 47(4), 461-524. doi: 10.1177/0021886310396550
- Patterson, M. G., West, M. A., Shackleton, V. J., Dawson, J. F., Lawthom, R., Maitlis, S., . . . Wallace, A. M. (2005). Validating the organizational climate

measure: links to managerial practices, productivity and innovation. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *26*(4), 379-408. doi: 10.1002/job.312

- Piderit, S. K. (2000). Rethinking Resistance and Recognizing Ambivalence: A Multidimensional View of Attitudes toward an Organizational Change. *The Academy of Management Review*, 25(4), 783-794. doi: 10.5465/AMR.2000.3707722
- Quinn, R. E., & Rohrbaugh, J. (1983). A Spatial Model of Effectiveness Criteria: Towards a Competing Values Approach to Organizational Analysis. *Management science*, 29(3), 363-377. doi: 10.1287/mnsc.29.3.363
- Rafferty, A. E., Jimmieson, N. L., & Armenakis, A. A. (2013). Change Readiness: A Multilevel Review. *Journal of Management*, 39(1), 110-135. doi: 10.1177/0149206312457417
- Rafferty, A. E., & Simons, R. H. (2006). An Examination of the Antecedents of Readiness for Fine-Tuning and Corporate Transformation Changes. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 20(3), 325-350. doi: 10.1007/s10869-005-9013-2
- Richman, W. L., Kiesler, S., Weisband, S., & Drasgow, F. (1999). A Meta-Analytic Study of Social Desirability Distortion in Computer- Administered Questionnaires, Traditional Questionnaires, and Interviews. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 84(5), 754-775. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.84.5.754
- Seo, M. F., Putnam, L. L., & Bartunek, J. M. (2004). Dualities and tensions of planned organizational change. In M. S. Poole & A. H. Van de Ven (Eds.), *Handbook of organizational change and innovation* (pp. 73-107). Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.
- Stevens, G. W. (2013). Toward a Process-Based Approach of Conceptualizing Change Readiness. *The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, 49(3), 333-360. doi: 10.1177/0021886313475479
- Szabla, D. B. (2007). A Multidimensional View of Resistance to Organizational Change: Exploring Cognitive, Emotional, and Intentional Responses to Planned Change Across Perceived Change Leadership Strategies. *Human Resource Development Quarterly*, 18(4), 525-558. doi: 10.1002/hrdq.1218
- Vakola, M. (2013). Multilevel Readiness to Organizational Change: A Conceptual Approach. *Journal of Change Management, 13*(1), 96-109. doi: 10.1080/14697017.2013.768436

- Vakola, M. (2014). What's in there for me? Individual readiness to change and the perceived impact of organizational change. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 35(3), 195-209. doi: 10.1108/lodj-05-2012-0064
- Weiner, B. J. (2009). A theory of organizational readiness for change. *Implementation Science*, *4*(67), 67-75. doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-4-67
- Weiner, B. J., Amick, H., & Lee, S. Y. (2008). Conceptualization and measurement of organizational readiness for change: a review of the literature in health services research and other fields. *Medical Care Research and Review*, 65(4), 379-436. doi: 10.1177/1077558708317802
- Wheland-Barry, K. S., Gordon, J. R., & Hinings, D. R. (2003). Strengthening
  Organizational Change Processes: Recommendations and Implications from a
  Multilevel Analysis. *Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, *39*(2), 186-207.
  doi: 10.1177/0021886303256270
- Yilmaz, S. (2013). Tailoring model in reforming police organizations towards community policing. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 26(5), 897-924. doi: 10.1108/jocm-07-2012-0092
- Zammuto, R. F., & Krakower, J. (1991). Quantitative and qualitative studies of organizational culture. In W. A. Passmore & R. W. Woodman (Eds.), *Research in Organizational Change and Development* (pp. 83-144). Connecticut, USA: JAI Press Inc.

**Appendix A – Letter of information** 



NORWEGIAN POLICE UNIVERSITY COLLEGE

**Politimesteren i** XXX politidistrikt Postboks XXXX

Deres referanse:

Vår referanse:

Sted, Dato

#### PROSJEKT ETTERFORSKNING

Vi viser til tidligere presentasjon på Politisjefsmøtet. Som vi gjorde rede for har Politidirektoratet gitt Politihøgskolen i oppdrag å gjennomføre et prosjekt med sikte på å undersøke organiseringen av politiets etterforskningsarbeid i Norge.

Fra Politihøgskolen består prosjektgruppen av:

- Professor Tor-Geir Myhrer.
- Professor Johannes Knutsson.
- Politiinspektør Trond Myklebust.

I tillegg har vi et formelt samarbeid med faggruppen for arbeids- og organisasjonspsykologi ved Psykologisk institutt, Universitetet i Oslo.

Vi vil kontakte politimesteren i hvert politidistrikt med forespørsel om deltakelse i prosjektet. Prosjektet vil samle inn informasjon ved å ha intervjuer med:

- i) Politimester/vise-politimester
- ii) Etterforskningsleder
- iii) Etterforsker

Det er frivillig å være med og hver deltaker har mulighet til å trekke seg når som helst underveis, uten å måtte begrunne dette nærmere. Dersom en deltaker trekker seg vil alle innsamlede data fra personen bli anonymisert. Opplysningene vil bli behandlet konfidensielt, og ingen enkeltpersoner vil kunne gjenkjennes i prosjektets skrevne sluttprodukt (rapporter/artikler).

Undertegnede vil en av de nærmeste dagene ta kontakt med deg for å avtale tidspunkt for et eventuelt intervju med deg eller vise-politimester. I tillegg ber jeg deg å velge ut aktuell etterforskningsleder og etterforsker for prosjektet, slik at jeg kan ta direkte kontakt med disse for informasjon om prosjektet samt avtale om tid og sted for eventuelt intervju.

Intervjuene vil være strukturert etter en såkalt SWOT-tilnærming og består av følgende fire tema/spørsmål:

I. Fortell om det som i dag fungerer godt ved etterforskningsarbeidet her i politidistriktet – vi kaller dette styrken i etterforskningsarbeidet.

POLITIHØGSKOLEN Pb.5027 Majorstuen, 0301 Oslo Slemdalsveien 5 Tlf: 23 19 99 00 /Faks: 23 19 99 01 Org. nr: 974 761 017 / Giro: 7694.05.08335 www.phs.no /postmottak@phs.no

Avdeling Bodø Pb. 6004, 8002 Bodø Universitetsalleen 1 Tlf: 75 58 80 00 Faks: 75 58 80 30 **Utdanningssenter Kongsvinger** Pb. 100, 2201 Kongsvinger Motjernsvegen Tlf: 62 82 59 00 Faks: 62 82 59 50 Justissektorens kurs- og øvingssenter Avdeling Stavern Pb. 204, 3291 Stavern Fredriksvern Verft Tif: 33 13 43 00 Faks: 33 13 43 02

- II. Fortell om det som i dag <u>ikke</u> fungerer godt ved etterforskningsarbeidet her i politidistriktet vi kaller dette svakheten i etterforskningsarbeidet.
- III. Fortell om det du i dag ser som muligheter for å forbedre kvaliteten i etterforskningen her i politidistriktet vi kaller dette for mulighetene i etterforskningsarbeidet.
- IV. Fortell om det du i dag ser som truslene mot å forbedre kvaliteten i etterforskningen her i politidistriktet – vi kaller dette for truslene i etterforskningsarbeidet.

Vi ønsker primært lyd- og billedopptak av intervjuet, men dersom i praksis kun lydopptak lar seg gjennomføre, ønsker vi å ta opp intervjuet i MP3 format. Lengden på intervjuet vil variere ut i fra informantens mengde med informasjon. Fra tidligere prosjekt vil denne type intervju ta omlag 90 minutter.

Intervjuet vil bli anonymisert slik at navn og personopplysninger om den intervjuede ikke transkriberes og blir følgelig ikke tatt med i analysene.

Vi takker for at ditt politidistrikt på Politisjefsmøtet har sagt seg positiv til dette prosjektet. Eventuelle spørsmål eller kommentarer til prosjektet bes rettet direkte til undertegnede (e-mail: <u>trond.myklebust@phs.no</u>, tlf direkte 23 19 98 55, tlf sentralbord 23 19 99 00).

Med hilsen

**Trond Myklebust** *Politiinspektør/PhD* 

## **Appendix B - Organizational Climate Measure (OCM), Norwegian version** Response format: 1 = Helt feil, 2 = Ganske feil, 3 = Ganske riktig, 4 = Helt riktig Items marked with an asterisk (\*) is reversed before the scale is calculated.

## Autonomi (Autonomy)

- Q1 Ledelsen lar stort sett folk ta sine egne beslutninger
- Q2 Ledelsen har tillit til at folk kan ta arbeidsrelaterte beslutninger uten å innhente tillatelse først
- Q3 Ledelsen holder streng kontroll med arbeidet til de ansatte\*
- Q4 Ledelsen har for strengt regime over måten ting blir gjort på \*
- Q5 Det er viktig å dobbeltsjekke med sjefen før man tar en beslutning\*

## Integrasjon (Integration)

- Q6 Folk er mistenksomme overfor andre avdelinger\*
- Q7 Det er svært lite konflikt mellom avdelingene her
- Q8 Folk er innstilt på å dele informasjon på tvers av avdelinger
- Q9 Det er svært effektivt samarbeid mellom avdelingene
- Q10 Det er lite respekt mellom noen av avdelingene her\*

#### Involvering (Involvment)

- Q11 Ledelsen lar de ansatte medvirke i beslutninger som angår dem
- Q12 Endringer blir gjort uten å snakke med de involverte\*
- Q13 Folk har ingen innvirkning i avgjørelser som påvirker arbeidet deres\*
- Q14 Folk føler at beslutninger ofte tas uten at de blir hørt\*
- Q15 Informasjon deles i stor grad
- Q16 Det er ofte kommunikasjonssvikt her\*

#### Veiledning (Supervisory Support)

- Q17 Overordnede er svært dyktige til å forstå folks problemer
- Q18 Overordnede viser at de har tiltro til sine ansatte
- Q19 Overordnede hos oss er vennlige og lett å henvende seg til
- Q20 Folk kan stole på at overordnede gir god veiledning
- Q21 Overordnede viser forståelse for sine ansatte

## Trening (Training)

- Q22 Folk får ikke tilstrekkelig opplæring i nye systemer eller nytt utstyr\*
- Q23 Folk får tilstrekkelig opplæring i bruk av nye systemer og utstyr
- Q24 Bedriften gir kun et minimum av den opplæringen folk trenger for å gjøre jobben sin\*
- Q25 Folk blir sterkt oppmuntret til å utvikle sine ferdigheter

## Velferd (Welfare)

- Q26 Denne bedriften vier lite oppmerksomhet til ansattes interesser\*
- Q27 Denne bedriften forsøker å ta vare på sine ansatte
- Q28 Denne bedriften bryr seg om sine ansatte
- Q29 Denne bedriften prøver å handle rettferdig overfor sine ansatte

## Formalisering (Formalization)

- Q30 Hos oss blir det oppfattet som svært viktig å følge reglene
- Q31 Folk kan ignorere formelle prosedyrer og regler hvis det bidrar til å få jobben gjort\*
- Q32 Hos oss må alt gjøres etter reglene
- Q33 Hos oss er det ikke nødvendig å følge alle prosedyrer til punkt og prikke\*
- Q34 Hos oss blir ingen særlig opprørt hvis reglene brytes\*

## Tradisjon (Tradition)

- Q35 Toppledelsen foretrekker å holde seg til etablerte, tradisjonelle måter å gjøre ting på
- Q36 Måten denne organisasjonen gjør ting på har aldri forandret seg særlig mye
- Q37 Ledelsen er ikke interessert i å prøve ut nye ideer
- Q38 Hos oss skjer endringer i måten ting gjøres på svært langsomt

## Innovasjon og fleksibilitet (Innovation & Flexibility)

- Q39 Hos oss blir nye ideer gjerne akseptert
- Q40 Bedriften reagerer raskt når endringer er nødvendig
- Q41 Behov for å gjøre ting annerledes fanges raskt opp av ledelsen
- Q42 Denne organisasjonen er svært fleksibel; den kan raskt endre prosedyrer for å møte nye vilkår, og problemer løses når de oppstår

- Q43 Støtte til utvikling av nye ideer er lett tilgjengelig
- Q44 Folk i denne organisasjonen er alltid ute etter å se problemer fra nye vinkler

#### Ytre fokus (Outward Focus)

- Q45 Denne organisasjonen er ganske innadrettet; man bryr seg ikke om hva som skjer i markedet\*
- Q46 Det legges ikke mye vekt på måter å bedre kundeservicen\*
- Q47 Kundens behov er ikke ansett som topp prioritet hos oss\*
- Q48 Denne bedriften er treg til å reagere på kundenes behov\*
- Q49 Denne organisasjonen er stadig på jakt etter nye muligheter i markedet

## Refleksivitet (Reflexivity)

- Q50 Måten de ansatte jobber sammen på i denne organisasjonen endres gjerne hvis det bedrer prestasjonen
- Q51 Arbeidsmetodene brukt i denne bedriften blir ofte diskutert
- Q52 Hvorvidt de ansatte jobber effektivt sammen, blir regelmessig diskutert
- Q53 Denne organisasjonens målsetninger endres i takt med forandringer i miljøet
- Q54 I denne organisasjonen tar man seg tid til å evaluere organisasjonens målsetninger

## Klarhet i organisasjons mål (Clarity of Organizational Goals)

- Q55 Folk har en god forståelse av organisasjonens formål
- Q56 Bedriftens fremtidige retning blir klart og tydelig kommunisert til alle
- Q57 Folk har ikke en klar forståelse av hva som er bedriftens mål\*
- Q58 Alle som jobber her er bevisst på bedriftens fremtidsplaner og retning
- Q59 Det finnes en klar oppfattning av hvor bedriften går

## Effektivitet (Efficiency)

- Q60 Tid og penger kunne blitt spart dersom arbeidet var bedre organisert\*
- Q61 Ting kunne blitt gjort mye mer effektivt hvis folk tok seg tid til å tenke seg om\*
- Q62 Dårlig planlegging resulterer ofte i at man ikke når sine målsetninger\*
- Q63 Produktiviteten kunne blitt forbedret om arbeidet ble bedre organisert og planlagt\*

## Innsats (Effort)

Q64 Hos oss ønsker folk alltid å prestere så godt de kan
Q65 Folk er entusiastiske i forhold til jobben sin
Q66 Her slipper folk unna med å gjøre så lite som mulig\*
Q67 Folk er innstilt på å gjøre en ekstra innsats for å utføre en god jobb
Q68 Her legger ikke folk mer innsats i arbeidet sitt enn det de må\*

## Feedback på prestasjon (Preformance Feedback)

- Q69 Folk får som regel tilbakemelding i forhold til kvaliteten på det arbeidet de gjør
- Q70 Folk har ingen anelse om hvorvidt de gjør en god jobb\*
- Q71 Det er generelt vanskelig for ansatte å vurdere kvaliteten på det de presterer\*
- Q72 Folks prestasjoner måles regelmessig
- Q73 Måten folk gjør jobben sin på blir sjelden evaluert\*

## Produksjonspress (Pressure to Produce)

- Q74 Det forventes for mye av folk i løpet av en dag
- Q75 Vanligvis er ikke folks arbeidsbelastning spesielt krevende\*
- Q76 Ledelsen krever at folk jobber ekstremt hardt
- Q77 Folk er under sterkt press for å nå målsetninger
- Q78 Arbeidstempoet her er ganske avslappet\*

## Kvalitet (Quality)

- Q79 Denne bedriften forsøker alltid å oppnå de høyeste kvalitetsstandardene
- Q80 Hos oss blir kvalitet tatt svært seriøst
- Q81 Folks oppfatning er at bedriftens suksess avhenger av høy kvalitet på arbeidet
- Q82 Denne bedriften har ikke noe særlig rykte for å levere produkter av topp kvalitet\*